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THIS BOOK IS DEDICATED

TO THE GOOD GERMAN.

EVERYONE CHOOSES

WHETHER TO

BE ONE.

And to the memory of Lenny Brown, John Edland,

Liz Fink, Don Jelinek, Robert McKay,

Frank Big Black Smith, Tom Wicker,

the Attica Supplemental Grand Jury, and

the others who strove for the truth and justice

that are too often denied.


Foreword to the Second Edition

The decades of the 1960s and 1970s were rife with both rebellion and repression. From Birmingham to Selma, from Kent State to Wounded Knee, time and again dispossessed Americans challenged injustice, and, time and again, their efforts to better the world in which they lived were met with a sometimes staggering amount of state violence. This is not to say that the many struggles citizens waged for a more just future were foolhardy. Indeed, despite the great odds they faced and the intense backlash they touched off, these grassroots battles made a real mark on history. Perhaps none better exemplifies this truth than the Attica prison uprising of 1971.

At Attica, as in cities all across the nation in the early 1970s, ordinary people—overwhelmingly poor people and people of color—suffered indignities, injustices, and inhumane treatment at the hands of state officials thanks to decades-old discriminatory policies and practices. At Attica, as at Watts and Newark the decade before, those who endured these wrongs eventually erupted in protest. And, at Attica, as at Kent State and Wounded Knee in the same decade, the state’s determination to maintain power and control led to unimaginable bloodshed. At Attica, as at virtually every other uprising in which the state reasserted its power with such ugly force, officials worked hard to ensure that all fault for the violence that they wrought rested at the feet of the protesters themselves. At Attica, however, the truth of what actually happened eventually would be told. This book by Malcolm Bell, The Attica Turkey Shoot: Carnage, Cover-Up, and the Pursuit of Justice, is central to this truth-telling.

Bell, hired back in 1973 by the State of New York to prosecute any cases that might arise from its official investigation of crimes committed during the Attica uprising and retaking, took his job most seriously. Even though his employers seemed interested only in prosecuting inmates for laws broken during their rebellion, Bell was determined that the troopers who had killed thirty-nine hostages and inmates when they retook the prison would also be held accountable for their crimes. That, however, was not to be. State officials were deeply reticent to investigate and prosecute troopers, and the more Bell suggested the imperative of doing just that, the more his employers isolated him. Eventually Malcolm Bell had to blow the whistle on the state’s unwillingness to indict its own, and his exposé of the lengths to which it went to cover up trooper crimes committed at Attica would change the course of history. With this republication of Malcolm Bell’s insider account of the Attica investigation and cover-up, readers today have an invaluable historical document. Even though the history of the tumultuous 1960s and 1970s is long over, Bell’s book, updated as it is with a rich and poignant new epilogue, reminds us all that the past continues to shape the present in ways both woeful and wonderful and, as the book makes clear, that we must know the past if we ever hope not to repeat it.

Dr. Heather Ann Thompson

Professor of History

University of Michigan


Foreword to the First Edition

Malcolm Bell is an American hero, a brave man who risked his livelihood, his profession, and the good opinion of his peers for the sake of truth and justice. This is his account of how he sought to prosecute New York State Police officers and other state officials for crimes ranging up to murder in the retaking of the Attica State Correctional Facility on September 13, 1971; and of how he tried to expose the blatant cover-up of those crimes by the state prosecution team—a cover-up that may well have involved two occupants of the Governor’s mansion at Albany and almost certainly was furthered, if not instigated, by Louis Lefkowitz, New York’s long-time Attorney General.

Bell’s story has political implications beyond Attica and New York. The key episode in the official cover-up—told in detail in Chapter 17—took place on August 22, 1974, just two days after Gerald Ford, who had succeeded to the Presidency following Richard Nixon’s resignation, had announced that he would nominate Nelson A. Rockefeller to be Vice President of the United States.

Rockefeller had been Governor of New York during the rebellion at Attica; it was he who had ordered the prison recaptured by force, after steadfastly refusing to go to Attica to take part in negotiations for a peaceful settlement; and it was he who said immediately after the recapture that the State Police had done a “superb job”—although they had killed twenty-nine inmates and ten hostages and wounded eighty-nine others with what repeated official investigations found to be indiscriminate and unwarranted gunfire.

After August 22, Malcolm Bell—then the chief assistant to the special state prosecutor, Anthony Simonetti—found more and more barriers in his way as he tried to prosecute State Police officers and Attica correction officers who had taken part in the recapture of the prison, and who had brutalized and tortured inmates afterward. Had Bell been able to proceed, Rockefeller might well have been shown to be so culpable for the events of September 13, 1971, that he would not have been confirmed as Vice President, or would have been discredited while serving in that office. Either development would have affected the election of 1976, in which Ford—though forced to drop Rockefeller from his ticket—was renominated by the Republicans over the challenger, Ronald Reagan, only to lose in November to Jimmy Carter.

Malcolm Bell’s lonely struggle against the New York establishment also tells us much about politics and criminal justice in America. Not only did the State Police, the supposed upholders of the law, kill thirty-nine people in an orgy of wanton shooting, the State of New York then allowed the same police to play the pivotal role in investigating their own behavior—with the predictable results of missing, manufactured, and destroyed evidence, botched or superficial interrogations (or none at all, in some cases), and manifest official perjury. Then, when Bell and other honest investigators and prosecutors found that sufficient evidence existed—even after three years of bungling and malfeasance—to charge numerous officers and officials with many serious crimes, they were prevented from presenting their findings to a grand jury Bell assures us was willing to indict, and puzzled when given no chance to.

Consequently, no police officer or state official ever was found guilty of anything that happened on September 13, 1971, even with thirty-nine people dead of police gunfire, and witnesses available to tell of torture, beatings, and lack of medical care.

Only one policeman was ever indicted, and that only after Malcolm Bell had courageously made public his charges of cover-up. Even that indictment came to naught when Governor Hugh Carey—ostensibly wiping the Attica slate clean—pardoned inmates convicted of crimes during the riot and closed the investigation into other possible crimes. This apparently evenhanded action had the actual result of putting culpable police officers and officials beyond the reach of the law.

The tacit alliance of law enforcement and politics, an omnipresent reality in the American criminal justice system, has seldom been seen more clearly than in Malcolm Bell’s painstaking account. The police did the politicians’ dirty work, and the politicians covered up for them. Truth was outraged, justice denied, and a cynical example provided of what too many Americans already believe: of those who break the law, the powerless get prison and the powerful get protection.

But Bell tells us something else—that honesty does matter, that truth and justice are worth pursuing even if seldom attained, that one person willing to stand up can make a difference. Malcolm Bell stood up and made a difference, and of that rare experience he finds the essence: “Attica freed me in ways in which I had not known I was not free.”

An unlikely hero, perhaps, but who is a likely hero? In the summer of 1973, Bell was a respected establishment lawyer, a 1958 graduate of Harvard Law School who had started at the pinnacle with Dewey, Ballantine, Bushby, Palmer and Wood. A self-described “moderate Republican” who had voted three times for Richard Nixon, and a deacon of his church, Bell had nevertheless begun to see himself as a corporate litigator “who fought over existing wealth and created nothing.” He remembered the few criminal cases he had handled as far more exciting, and when the chance came to join the Attica prosecution, he took it: “Fifteen years out of law school may be late to change the direction of a career, but better late than always to wonder.”

Bell left corporate law at considerable financial sacrifice, but with little idea of what his move ultimately would cost him. At first, he believed wholly in the integrity of the prosecution and still believes that it was Ford’s nomination of Rockefeller that turned it sour. But when Simonetti, with whom he had once had a close, admiring relationship, suspended him, without explanation, after Bell’s continuing efforts to break through what he finally recognized as a cover-up, Bell found himself out of a job during a recession and standing in the unemployment lines.

Even then, leading New York law firms were willing to interview, though none hired him. After he made his charges public—risking disbarment and the certain antagonism of the legal establishment—the interviews dried up. Bell [started] a personal practice in Connecticut … and, he writes, [became] a happier and freer man for his experience.

I should confess a personal interest. Before disclosing his cover-up charge, Malcolm Bell—as he recounts here—came to see me at the New York Times. I put him in touch with our news department, and his disclosures followed, with prominent display on page one. Later, over a period of years, I tried with no success to help him to get this book before the public. I became convinced that New York’s establishment publishers either thought the public had lost interest in Attica, or that Bell’s book was too hot to handle, or both. Publishers, after all, know perfectly well how to remedy whatever literary defects they may have seen in his manuscript. I had nothing to do with the present publication—other than contributing this foreword—which comes almost a decade after I first heard of the book.

Beyond that, Attica was one of those rare events that as Bell writes “has a way of holding people.” I know of no one who was there who would dispute that. Having been myself on the scene during most of the riot and for what he aptly calls the “turkey shoot” on September 13, I don’t expect ever to be entirely free of Attica—most particularly of the corrosive sense of a terrible failure, a failure of men and procedures, of courage and wisdom, of compassion, or the true toughness of spirit that knows no fear. Still, Attica had its few heroes, and to that short but honorable list this book will add the name of Malcolm Bell.

Tom Wicker

Rochester, Vermont

July 19, 1985


Author’s Note

On the warm afternoon of November 7, 2015, roughly two hundred and fifty people gathered at Union Theological Seminary on the upper West Side of Manhattan to pay tribute to Elizabeth M. Fink, a brilliant, flamboyant, often testy, indomitable lawyer who had died that September at the age of seventy. Though Liz had started out in criminal defense—and several of that afternoon’s speakers were people she had kept out of prison or freed from prison—the heart of her life’s work was a civil suit to compensate hundreds of convicts for the wanton shootings and tortures that law officers had inflicted on them at Attica. Liz, aided by three other lawyers who stepped to the lectern to praise her this afternoon, fought the case for nineteen years without a payday and finally in 2000 achieved the largest money settlement in the history of prisoner litigation. Along the way, they won the largest jury award ever for a single inmate, Frank “Big Black” Smith (though this award was reversed on appeal). That afternoon Big Black’s widow, Pearl, read a poem for Liz.

The huge litigation, which had been inching forward for several years before Liz joined it, was still inching when this book first went to press in 1985. While I barely mentioned Liz and her team in the book, their triumphs and defeats form a significant part of the new epilogue in this edition.

Before I spoke (the only former prosecutor to praise Liz that afternoon), it was my privilege to read a message from Michael Smith, the only former prison guard to praise her. When the shooting began, Mike, who was a hostage on a prison catwalk, survived four bullets that another guard fired through his gut. During the months of his recuperation, State officials swindled Smith and the other hostages, their widows, and their children out of fair compensation for the injuries and pain that law officers and officials had inflicted on them. It was not until 2000, though, that these former State employees and their families, stunned by the inmates’ settlement, banded together as the “Forgotten Victims of Attica” (FVOA) and sought such justice as was still possible for themselves. Mike became a leader of their quest—as did dynamic Deanne Quinn Miller, who had been five years old when inmates fatally injured her father during the riot. Their quest, too, forms a significant part of the epilogue.

Attica was a volcano. First came the prisoners’ eruption against the way the State was treating them. Then came the eruption when scores of law officers, who were supposed to keep the peace, rioted with their guns and clubs. In the wake of their savagery, New York’s top officials fought like cornered tigers to deny to the public, and perhaps to themselves, the enormity of what their law officers had done. Their cover-up, which I detail in the book, has continued despite considerable success at revealing the truth. At Liz Fink’s memorial, her legal teammates—Dennis Cunningham of San Francisco, Michael Deutsch of Chicago, and Joe Heath of Syracuse—urged everyone present to end the cover-up as completely as possible by demanding the release of still-suppressed Attica records.

Paradoxically perhaps, the prominence of the Attica tragedy has increased with the passage of time. As New York’s Attorney General told a court in 2013, “[L]ike the shootings at Kent State, the violent police attacks on civil rights demonstrators in the 1960s, the My Lai Massacre, and the Watergate scandal, Attica is more than just a profoundly tragic event; it is an historic event of significance to generations of Americans.”1 At least seven elements, I believe, combine to explain Attica’s prominence: the brutal beatings that inmates inflicted on prison guards and civilian employees at the outset, killing Corrections Officer William Quinn; Governor Nelson Rockefeller’s premature shutdown of talks aimed at ending the rebellion without violence; the bloodbath in which State Police and guards killed twenty-nine inmates and ten hostages and wounded eighty-nine other men; the savagery that law officers unleashed upon inmates after they had surrendered; the racism that underlay much of the officers’ savagery; the official cover-up of the law officers’ many violent crimes; and the media attention that the tragedy still attracts.

Of these elements, probably the most significant was the law officers’ unwarranted shooting that cut down inmates and hostages alike. Unfortunately, many people today believe that all the officers who stormed the prison were guilty of this conduct. Not so. The available evidence shows that the first dozen or so shots they fired were lawful and necessary to save the hostages whose throats inmates were poised to slash; and of the 211 troopers and a few prison guards in the assault force, more than half did not fire their guns at all.

Over the years a number of authors, reporters, filmmakers, lawyers for the hostages and inmates, and people whose lives the Attica tragedy altered forever have told me that this book showed them what really happened during and after the turkey shoot. This updated edition should serve them and others who care to know how justice really works—not simply Attica justice, but American justice.

I say American justice because the tortuous course of Attica justice highlights the inequality that has long blighted our nation and will continue to blight it unless enough people object. Those who committed criminal acts during the rebellion and its aftermath were both convicted felons and law officers and august state officials. When Tom Wicker wrote in his foreword, “Of those who break the law, the powerless get prison and the powerful get protection,” his words fit vastly more than simply these Attica transgressors.

A point that has often been missed: what this book tells is not primarily a prison story; the prison was merely the scene of the crimes. The central story is of the ensuing prosecution that aimed to appear honest yet to fail, of my efforts to straighten its aim, and of what followed when I took the official scam public.

The beauty of the story I have tried to tell—if there can be beauty in an avoidable tragedy that put justice on trial—is that it lays bare the process by which law officers and public officials sought impunity for crimes that were sending less privileged people to prison. The back of the watch lies open. Corruption ticks inside.

The original title of the book, The Turkey Shoot: Tracking the Attica Cover-up, while accurate, finally struck me as being more limited than the book’s scope, especially as the events of the three decades since it was published have broadened its scope. The new title better fits the new book. I have changed nothing of substance in the original text but simply clarified the writing a bit and given names to the chapters—many of them the same names that I used in a still-suppressed report on the cover-up that I sent to New York’s Governor Hugh Carey forty plus years ago. The body of this book is essentially the same as the original but easier to follow.

Just as the first edition does not name the officers who became criminal suspects, I do not name them here—even though the names of many of them are now public. I consider this reticence my duty as an ex-prosecutor; and simply as a human being, I don’t want to cause pointless pain by implicating men who were never indicted (albeit often for the wrong reasons) and at this late date cannot defend themselves. Some people argue that there is a duty to history to name them and that not naming them furthers the cover-up, but I am not persuaded. Indeed, I think it’s a bit much if I am accused of furthering the Attica cover-up.2

I do not know the identities of the troopers who are seen walking outside the prison on the new cover of the book, or which of them exercised professional restraint with his shotgun or failed to during the gunfire shortly before the photo was taken.

Reverend Ray Chesbro’s haunting graphic on the title page of three men being tortured to death may suggest the crucifixion of Jesus between two thieves, but more pertinently here, it stands for the brutality that state power has employed against innocent and guilty alike from Rome to Attica.

Here is a guide to the narrative: Chapter 1 gives an overview. In Chapter 2, I join the Attica special prosecutor’s office two years into its work. Chapters 3-6 introduce the prison, the bloody assault that retook it from rebelling prisoners, the barbarity that followed the shooting, and the Attica Investigation. Chapters 7-16: the prosecution of the principal killers rolls forward two years tardy. Chapters 17-20: Nelson Rockefeller’s nomination for Vice President changes the game. Chapters 21-30: justice was and is obstructed. Chapters 31-34: having done all I can inside the prosecution, I resign in protest. Chapters 35-43: the motley results of exposing the cover-up.

The new epilogue begins with three improbably happy endings within the Attica saga, yet even they cast shadows: The inmates’ settlement with the State carried equal justice too far for many people. The resolution of the Forgotten Victims’ quest omitted what some considered its most important element. And the sunshine that a federal judge let into a large, dark chamber of the cover-up revealed information that many people would rather not face. But so, it seems, does the book as a whole.

Next come four recent events: In 2013 the Attorney General joined the quest to disclose some still-suppressed documents. That year, too, saw the start of Black Lives Matter, a movement that opposes police shootings of unthreatening black men, so many of whom were shot at Attica and continue to be shot to this day. In 2014 came new insight into a likely case of murder that I had been stopped from pursuing forty years before. In 2015 the near impunity of three guards for viciously maiming a prisoner showed Attica again as representing an inequality that I hope Americans will someday find unacceptable. Finally, I note two flagrant instances of the impunity of the privileged—one well known, the other curiously ignored—that are closely akin to the unequal justice that glares from the wreckage of the Attica uprising.

While justice may have earned a mixed verdict at Attica, I close by recalling a number of people whom the quest for justice ennobled—a happy ending from which we all may take heart.

Malcolm Bell

Weston, Vermont


Chapter One

The Challenges

A reporter’s camera captures a young woman, dark hair falling past her shoulders and her face averted, as she waits outside a prison. Inmates deep within hold her husband hostage. State Police retaking the prison shoot her husband through the abdomen, then try to convince the medical examiners that an inmate killed him with a spear. His death, along with the deaths of thirty-eight others at the hands of the police, shocks the nation that September. As the years pass, no one answers for those killings. The woman in the photo waits forever while her husband fades from public memory.

The Attica riot—or rebellion, as I came to understand it—burst onto the pleasant Thursday morning of September 9, 1971, inside the thirty-foot-high, cream-colored walls of the Attica Correctional Facility (maximum security prison), which rests on the rolling farmland of western New York. Slightly more than half the swollen population of inmates sacked their home, captured all the guards and civilian employees they could, and held them hostage through four tense days of negotiations. The talks accomplished much but were officially claimed to have reached an impasse. On orders from then-Governor Nelson A. Rockefeller, the State Police retook the prison in the gentle rain of Monday morning, the thirteenth. Their commander, Major John Monahan, instructed them beforehand that he did not want a “turkey shoot.” But the guns of the police and a few prison guards cracked and boomed more than 450 times, speeding at least 2,200 bullets and shotgun pellets into the crowd. The gunfire killed 10 of the 38 hostages and 29 out of 1,281 inmates; it wounded 89 other men, many grievously, making Attica “the bloodiest prison riot in American history, the deadliest act of state-ordered domestic violence since the massacre at Wounded Knee in 1890.”1 And that fatal morning, a hostage was more than ten times as likely as an inmate to die.

The media that covered the riot, relying solely on the word of a State official, reported that inmates had killed all the dead hostages with knives. The next day, though, the media had to recant because Dr. John F. Edland, the Rochester medical examiner who had worked through the night autopsying the bodies of eight of those ten men, announced that bullets had killed them all. Since the police had the only guns, the conclusion was obvious. The extent of this carnage and the enormity of this official lie promptly made Attica a household word; yet most people have never learned what actually happened that morning, or who did what to bury these facts along with the bodies, they hoped, forever.

Within the next few days and before any investigation, Governor Rockefeller, who bore the responsibility for ordering the attack, announced that the State Police had done “a superb job.” He praised their “skill and courage” and their “restraint [that] held down casualties among the prisoners as well.” The officers’ killing of the hostages was, Rockefeller added, “justifiable homicide.”2 Having thus predicted what a criminal investigation would find, Rockefeller and Attorney General Louis Lefkowitz appointed a special prosecutor, a former judge named Robert E. Fischer, to find out, but they gave him a staff that was far too tiny to do a proper job.

The months went swiftly by. A year after the bloody retaking of the prison, a special commission under Dean Robert McKay of the New York University Law School, which Rockefeller had appointed to investigate and report to the public about the riot, announced that the police had done “much unnecessary shooting.” Unnecessary shooting inside Attica, where close to 1,300 men were crowded into a broad brick pen called D Yard, almost certainly meant criminal shooting. But the McKay Commission was a toothless tiger. It had no power to prosecute anyone, and the uproar over its findings soon faded.

Two years into the work of the Attica Investigation, which is what the special prosecutor’s office was called, State officials suddenly found a way to hire more staff—not because the Investigation had finally decided to dig into the homicides by the police, but because more lawyers and investigators were needed to try the sixty or so inmates whom Fischer’s meager crew had managed to indict. I was among the lawyers hired. A former New York City prosecutor named Anthony G. Simonetti soon succeeded Fischer as head of the Investigation, and I soon became his chief assistant. My job was to give a grand jury the evidence of any and all serious crimes that law officers had committed during and after the shootings. This book, then, is an insider’s account of the criminal investigation into the violence by which the State got its prison back—the retaking of the buildings and rehousing of the inmates.

At Attica the veil of civilization parted and the beast sprang forth, wearing the grays and carrying the arms of the State Police. The Official Version (i.e., the line the powers that be ask the public to believe, whether it’s true or not) had it that these men loosed their fire in defense against a beast in inmate green. Yet the inmates, who had killed one guard and three inmates during the riot, killed no one during the retaking. They had hundreds of knives, clubs, and other crude weapons, but apart from two tear gas pistols, they had no guns—as the police knew when they went in shooting. The only trooper to be seriously wounded was a lieutenant shot through his leg by his own men. Many of the vicious beatings and other brutalities that guards and troopers inflicted upon hundreds of inmates after they had surrendered made news at the time, but the Official Version asked us to believe that the police had unleashed their fury only upon men who had already surrendered, and that during their storm of bullets, they had exercised professional restraint, shooting people only as the law allows, to save someone’s life from an imminent threat of grievous harm.

Most Americans who know anything about Attica think that there was only one riot, the one by the inmates. The particulars of the turkey shoot emerged so slowly, and so many facts remained suppressed, that most people never learned that the police can fairly be said to have rioted with their guns and clubs. And with lethal bigotry. The population of Attica was 54 percent black, 37 percent white, and 9 percent Puerto Rican, while the troopers and guards were 100 percent white. To the surprise and relief of many, the inmates’ riot was largely free of racial animosity. Their common attitude was “We’re all in this together, race doesn’t matter.” But to a distressing degree, the police riot was a race riot. Anger and hatred had built on both sides during a previous four-day stand-off between the inmates and the authorities. Inmates called officers “pig.” Officers’ favorite epithet was “nigger.” Graffiti on an interior wall memorialized the hatreds: “Attica fell 9-9-71 Fuck you Pig!” Beside it: “Retaken on 9-13-71 32 Dead Niggers NYSP.”3 So far as I know, senior police officers made no serious effort to restrain or discipline the troopers’ crescendo of racist hatred. Then came the shooting. Afterward some troopers bragged, “Got me a nigger.”

The very enormity of what the police had done probably helped to assure that many people would not believe they had done it. In western New York many people still insist that the first big lie—that inmates had killed the dead hostages—was the truth and Dr. Edland was a communist. It is comfortable to trust that we live in an orderly land where, except for the proverbial “few bad apples,” law officers uphold the law. At Attica, though, the State Police breached that trust as scores of them killed, maimed, and tortured with scant restraint. Their savagery triggered the destruction of evidence by their brother detectives who were supposed to preserve it. This led to a cover-up of police crimes by the prosecution, which was supposed to treat all criminals equally.

While this book includes acts of courage, restraint, and honesty by some of the State Police, it is mainly a crime story in which the police committed most of the murders. It is a detective story in which the detectives did more to bury the facts than to uncover them. It tells of law and order in collision, with order winning at law’s expense. On the national level, it joins Nelson Rockefeller’s ambition to become President of the United States to the fact that he ordered the armed assault on the prison—after journalist Tom Wicker, Congressman Herman Badillo, and other well-esteemed men who were at the prison, where Rockefeller refused to go, had warned him with all the passion and eloquence they could muster that the armed assault would be a bloodbath—and it links a sudden halt in the belated prosecution of his “superb job” troopers to his 1974 nomination to become Vice President.

I believe that, paradoxically, my inexperience with political realities played a significant part in exposing the Attica cover-up. Never having prosecuted anyone, I trusted that the great American principle of equal justice for all, convicts and law officers alike, would prevail. So I worked to indict the officers against whom we had substantial evidence of murder and other serious felonies. This went fine at first—a stacked deck has to appear legit—but the closer I came to indicting these officers, the more obstacles my superiors put in my path, thereby exposing more and more of their determination to obstruct justice. Indeed, they blocked my efforts so often and blatantly that I thought that any fool will see what they’re doing. In the end, the equal justice that I sought was not achieved, and what a Governor called justice was not justice. But I dare say, the results turned out much better than they would have if I had not tried to do my job and then spoken out against the cover-up that blocked me.

Since I was assigned to prosecute police while most of my colleagues were busy prosecuting inmates and I refused to go along with the cover-up, some people think I must have taken the inmates’ side. This is not what happened. As I show hereafter, I worked as hard to find evidence of officers’ innocence as of their guilt. I simply wanted to get it right. For now, suffice it to note that Governor Rockefeller ordered the Attica Investigation to prosecute, not simply inmates’ crimes, but all crimes. That is what our great principle of equal justice demands, and, naively perhaps, that is what I tried to do.

Since I tell this story as I lived it, it seems fair to note at the start that Attica changed me. This book is not written by the moderate Republican I was when the State hired me. Yet most of what I believe did not change. Because it did not, other things had to—my career, income, assumptions, perspective. Attica freed me in ways in which I had not known I was not free.

What law officers did at Attica challenged our system of justice and our proud claim that no one is above the law. It challenged Governor Nelson Aldrich Rockefeller, who had done much for the State of New York and wished to lead the nation. It challenged me, and I dare say, it challenged my superiors as they tried to restrict me to a course that they could not admit they were taking. The way that events unfolded may surprise you. It surprised me time after time.


Chapter Two

“An Honest Prosecution”

Attica has a way of holding people. The labyrinth of the riot may fascinate them as deftly as the gates and tunnels embrace the men who shed segments of their lives there. I had not thought of being captured by Attica, but I was, and I have seen it happen to others.

I knew virtually nothing about Attica when it chanced into my life in the summer of 1973. I knew they had a big riot in 1971; inmates held knives to the throats of hostages on catwalks—I imagined catwalks like the narrow iron bridges you used to see on oil tankers, instead of the long flat rooftops that they are. Throats were reportedly slashed, then they weren’t. The police shot a lot of people. It was all pretty shocking, as is so much that continually happens to others. With my lack of knowledge went a lack of feeling. I enjoyed the objectivity of ignorance.

I come from a conservative background against which I sometimes rebelled. I still remember my surprise in late high school at hearing a teacher say a good word about labor unions. Through the 1960s I had supported U.S. involvement in Vietnam. In the fall of 1972 I had cast my third vote for Richard Nixon for President.

After finishing Harvard Law School in 1958, I had worked nine years for the large Wall Street firm Dewey, Ballantine, Bushby, Palmer & Wood; the Dewey was Thomas E., the former New York Governor who had lost the Presidency to Roosevelt in 1944 and to Truman in 1948. I passed six more years with two firms in mid-Manhattan in the amiable acrimony of civil litigation. More and more though, I compared litigators like myself with medieval knights who fought over other people’s wealth and created nothing. Or, I saw civil suits as games of tennis—fun, but not what I came for. By the summer of 1973, I was restless and ready for a change.

I wanted to get into criminal law. The few criminal cases I had ever defended stood out among my most exciting work. Lives changed. Drama inhered. The courts were taking new steps forward and sometimes backward in the wake of the Earl Warren Supreme Court. Criminal law is a specialty, and a prosecutor’s office is a good place to learn it. Though forty-one years old, I wanted to do that. Fifteen years out of law school may be late to change the direction of a career, but better late than always to wonder.

So it was that I answered a blind ad for prosecutors in the New York Law Journal, writing that I had never prosecuted anyone but wanted to talk about it. A reply arrived on the letterhead of the State of New York Organized Crime Task Force. It was signed, “Anthony G. Simonetti, Assistant Attorney General, in Charge.” He wrote, “We are now interested in obtaining the full-time services of an attorney or attorneys with prosecutorial ‘trial experience,’” for cases arising out of the Attica riot, and asked me in for an interview.

I had already cleared the personal hurdle of my distaste for prosecuting people. Someone has to do it. It is not like being an executioner, who cannot exercise discretion. Better if it is done by someone not dominated by a desire to win—since the public wins when the innocent go free. A United States Attorney for Connecticut told me once that it is important to decide whether the person before you is some poor guy who deserves another chance or a smart-ass who ought to be in. I had already applied to several prosecutor’s offices, and they had not worked out. Hoping for the best, I made the appointment to try Attica.

Mr. Simonetti relaxed in his shirtsleeves behind a gray metal desk in his sunny office on the corner of a “semi-abandoned State office building”—his phrase—nine floors over Broadway.1 The headquarters of the Attica Investigation had come to rest there, after starting at the prison, moving to Rochester forty miles away, and thence to Manhattan at the opposite end of the State. Two panels bearing an enormous diagram of the prison courtyards rested against the dirty-cream wall to his left.

Simonetti was a compact man about my age (two years younger, I learned later) and had the dark good looks of the actor Al Pacino. Simonetti had been a U.S. Marine and later an FBI agent, working for a time in the South on civil rights cases. He had prosecuted homicides under New York City’s legendary District Attorney, Frank Hogan. Hogan’s prosecutors had impressed me in the past as being generally fair and competent.

We discussed my lack of experience in prosecuting people. He thought my trial experience (such as it was) should transfer easily. The aspects that make prosecution unique, I would have to pick up. He impressed me by doing something that no one had ever done with me in a job interview. He told me the facts of a homicide he had once tried and asked me how I would try that case. I thought a moment, asked him a few questions, and told him. We talked about some of the problems of the case, one trial lawyer to another. He seemed pleased.

He explained that in thirty-seven indictments to date, about sixty Attica inmates had been charged with crimes, including murder, kidnapping, and assault. He said it was deemed kidnapping when inmates took hostages at the start of the riot, as it was when they took eight of the already kidnapped hostages from the Hostage Circle in D Yard up onto the catwalks on the morning of the retaking. (I would come to know those locations.) No law officer had been indicted yet, but he said, confirming a line in his letter: “ … additional indictments may ensue.”

The trials of inmates could start in Buffalo as early as that November. He was hiring additional lawyers to try these cases. Some cases were small, some big. I mentioned my past experience with complicated cases, antitrust and stock fraud, and said I was seeking wide experience. He replied that the Attica cases had already provided a great variety of legal problems, and he expected more. New law could develop; books could be written, he added, about the Attica prosecution.

To my surprise, he asked about my philosophy.

“For one thing,” I replied, “if a cop and an inmate both committed a crime, I’d rather prosecute the cop.”

“Why?”

“The full weight of the System will land on the inmate. The cop is more likely to hide behind the System, so that’s the job that needs doing more. It’s not that I have anything against cops. We need them. I feel the same way whenever a respectable person uses his position to get away with something.”

He asked if I could work for $28,500. That was more than any other prosecutor’s office that I knew about was likely to pay me, but it would cut my present salary by several thousand dollars. My ambition on leaving law school had been “to work on interesting cases with able and congenial men.” By 1973 it was “to put together an interesting life.” I thought the pay cut well worth it. I said yes. He said that if he could get my application through budget—and he thought he could—I had the job.

I was happy. The interview had gone well. I liked Mr. Simonetti—probably the most important decision one makes at a job interview. He seemed to like me. He covered the main points directly in one sitting, no one else to consult, no noncommittal promise to call me later. Here was a man who knew his mind and made it up, at ease but no nonsense, and an honorable man, as well. I had said I would rather prosecute an officer than an inmate. He offered me the job. “ … additional indictments may ensue.” The investigation had to be honest.

I took my children to the gentle island of Martha’s Vineyard for a week. The radio was full of Jim Croce’s song about putting “Time in a Bottle.” I wished we could do that and keep those days forever. When we returned, Mr. Simonetti let me know that the necessary approvals had come through. He asked me to read the McKay Report, which Governor Rockefeller had commissioned to tell the public about the riot at the same time that he established the Attica Investigation to prosecute the crimes there. I would begin work on September 20. A letter of appointment from Attorney General Lefkowitz, Mr. Simonetti said, was on the way.


Chapter Three

The Joint

On my first visit to Attica I stood inside a cell in D Block facing the open door and tried to imagine what it would be like to live in there with the bars closed. The riot had left D Block a shambles, littered with rubble, mattresses, and the red slit corpses of Barry Schwartz, Kenneth Hess, and Michael Privitiera. Inmates had killed these inmates during the days of negotiation that occupied most of the riot. They cut and stabbed Hess forty times and Privitiera twenty. Hess and Schwartz had spoken “treasonably” to a newsman in D Yard, by telling him there were cracks in the inmates’ solidarity. Privitiera kept trying to assault people. D Block was such a mess that no one found the carcass of Hess until a day after the riot ended.

The day I stood there, D Block was bare, repaired, and silent, a clean machine waiting to suck out the years. Inside the symmetry of the cell, I felt fear, some claustrophobia, and, most fearsome, snugness and safety. Attica is two ways a maximum security prison. Punishment has matured, from iron maiden to iron womb.

I had flown from New York City to Rochester early that October morning with Bill Blackford, my assigned investigator, for our first look at “the joint” as part of Tony Simonetti’s orientation for all new men. Bill was tall, black-haired, Irish, and in his early fifties. The other investigators sometimes called him Blackfoot the Indian. Like most of the investigators, he had retired after twenty years in the New York City Police Department and now had a good living with his salary plus pension. Fourteen of his years as a cop, he had spent on the streets of Harlem. I guessed he had had interesting experiences and could handle himself. Tony had put both of us on Indictment No. 10, which charged ten inmates with trapping three guards in an office in C Block on the morning the riot started, clubbing them through the bars, and kidnapping them into D Yard as hostages.

From the Rochester airport we drove through the clear cold morning to the Holiday Inn at Batavia for a leisurely second breakfast with some other prosecutors—assistant attorneys general, or “assistants”—and investigators on the staff. I chafed silently, impatient that the day was slipping away in the genial company of men whose tempo beat slower than mine. This was my first taste of their “upstate fever.” Perhaps we would have time to see all there was to see of the prison, I thought, and still make the return flight.

Flat Batavia lies off the New York Thruway (actually the Governor Thomas E. Dewey Thruway) a dozen miles north of the prison. Troop A of the State Police, the troop that had been in charge at the riot, centers there. Blocks of trees and lawns and houses stretch away from the taller buildings and water towers of downtown in this Anywhere, U.S.A. Among members of the Investigation, Batavia was known as the Peyton Place of western New York, basking under the benign eye of Troop A, though I never fully understood its reputation. I heard stories about correction officers’ wives who drifted up to the bar at the Holiday Inn while their husbands pulled night duty. In that bar some of the troopers bragged about their exploits the evening after they retook the prison. “Got me a nigger.” Someone asked the piano player to play “The Green, Green Grass of Home,” not realizing that the song told of a man condemned to die in prison. That was the legend.

State Police came from all over New York and slept at the Holiday Inn, among other places, during the riot. Our staff spent a lot of time there, particularly early in the investigation. (Later, when the State Police realized we took their killings seriously, a young woman who worked at the Holiday Inn told me that one of their lawyers had questioned her about me. Fortunately, perhaps, she had nothing to tell him. I seldom stayed there after that.)

The town of Attica rests on the rolling farmland of Wyoming County east of Lake Erie, about halfway between Rochester and Buffalo though south of both cities. From the roofs of the prison you can see barns and silos among the trees and meadows. From a plane the geometry of the joint looks misshapen on the land—too squared, too big, too much like the skeleton of the minicity that it is. Bill and I drove through the little town and turned left to cross the hump of a railroad line. Over green grass off a tree-lined street lay the long light-colored wall, spaced by towers that bulged with crenellated balconies under dark conical roofs. Across the road behind us sat a restaurant in a solitary frame house, a red neon beer sign in the window. The prison opened in 1931, the year I was born. There it suddenly was, waiting for me all the time.

Disneyland North, I thought, as we pulled into the parking lot. The main gate was only a small door in the base of the center gun tower. ATTICA CORRECTIONAL FACILITY said raised letters on the wall above me. I made out the word PRISON in the concrete behind the bottom two words. They had changed the name a few years ago, as if to change the place. In the drab little sign-in room inside the iron gate, it crossed my mind to buy the warden a welcome mat.

Under the sky again but inside the walls that I felt might never let us go, we crossed a block-long sidewalk, flanked by neat, circular flower beds and a beautiful lawn, to the Administration Building. The prison buildings rose in dark red brick to gentle peaks of orange tile. The place seemed comfortably ageless, yet it had a physical awkwardness about it. It cost about $13,000 a year then to keep a person in, twice as much then as to send him to Harvard.

Another barred door, another guard slipping big flat keys in and out of a key apron as if from the pouch of an underdeveloped kangaroo. Silver castle walls surrounded the light fixtures in the square dark lobby, somebody’s idea of theme no doubt. An inmate in green shirt and trousers pushed a mop in the area. As we sat waiting, two guards locked a new guest into a tiny cell I had not noticed in a corner. It surprised me to see women working near these men who cannot lie with a woman for years. Sometimes on later visits I felt the silent electric hum of the prison as I waited in the lobby, as though the mass of souls within radiated an energy that science cannot quantify and would therefore deny, but that the bars could not contain. The Administration Building had been a beehive during the riot. The State Police command post had been upstairs, with the radio on which Captain Henry Williams ordered the assault to go forward.

Electric gates stood across the hallway, or “tunnel,” to A Block. A guard sat between them, facing one gate and watching the one behind him in a mirror, like a church organist or an Amsterdam whore at her window. He controlled the gates so that one was always closed, the channel from the prison like a lock in a canal. The guards used to carry batons, “nigger sticks,” among the population, but guards were beaten with their own clubs during the riot. Now only one guard carried a stick inside, a burly young anachronism whose bravado seemed sad. The guards wore gray slacks and dark blue blazers with a gold Department of Correctional Services seal brilliant on the left breast, their winter uniforms, making them look like superannuated prep school boys.

The 1972 McKay Report, which I had just finished reading, ended some of my ignorance about life at Attica before the riot: wages for the inmates of twenty or twenty-five cents a day, insufficient toilet paper, rectal searches before and after an inmate saw his visitor (if any) through a wire mesh, correspondence only with people approved by the authorities. A guard might withhold a letter and not tell either the sender or the intended recipient. All in the name of security. Fourteen to sixteen hours a day alone in a cell, boredom, little productive work, less chance to learn a trade or skill, religious freedom for Christians but not Muslims. Medical aid through another wire mesh. An inmate told me once about an inmate who had just died of a heart attack after the doctor gave him aspirin for his chest pains. No one at Attica segregated violent sex offenders from frail or bonnie young men and other likely targets, so that homosexual rape remained a threat, and no one I asked could tell me how often it happened. We claim to have ended corporal punishment, but violent buggery was never authorized. Though I had visited Sing Sing in 1968 and seen the usual movies, I had never thought much about prisons. The obvious fact had never crossed my mind that as a voter and taxpayer, I bore a certain responsibility for all this.

The guards mingle with the inmates, and we mingled with the inmates, about one in five of whom was in for killing someone. We paused to discuss something in the middle of A Tunnel, where the riot had broken forth. A group of several dozen inmates with a guard fore and another one aft shuffled past my back. I vaguely waited for a kidney punch, though none seemed likely and none came.

At least three factors, I think, keep violence as low as it is in prison: the decency of most inmates most of the time, their inertia, and their fear of future punishment. The first two factors may account for most of the peace most of the time, but the third is apparently necessary to make prisons as safe as possible, so long as we solve crime with prisons. Punishing inmates’ violence should make these places safer than not punishing it. This was why I wanted to do a good job of prosecuting the inmates charged in my Indictment No. 10.

Here was the C Block office, with a new door because the inmates had cut through the old one with an acetylene torch to get the guards out and take them hostage. How small the office looked. How easy to beat the guards through the bars with mop handles. However floppy the mops, the handles made brutal clubs.

White patches blotched the concrete rafters of C Tunnel where shotgun pellets had struck them during the State Police “happy hour,” as we called their massive shotgunning down there. Up on the empty catwalks I pondered the number of holes in the pipe railings, a rusted residue of bullets gone by. The railings fill only a small fraction of the air space above the catwalks. To drill this many holes, the gunfire must have fallen heavy as rain.

Rust from a pipe and wire framework over upper Times Square, where the catwalks converged, had stained the pavement a dark red-brown. A correction officer who sometimes followed us around the prison asked me one day if I thought the stain was blood. At our feet as he spoke lay the corner of Times Square, where an inmate told me he saw blood running off the pavement into B Yard on the morning the patience ran out, blood and rain.

That correction officer had survived the riot only by a fluke. The inmates made him and the other blindfolded hostages in D Yard stand up when the shooting started. An inmate stood behind him, gripping his shoulder. He felt a blow like a punch, peeked beneath his blindfold, and saw that the hand on his shoulder had a hole through it. When the doctor took the bullet out of his back, the inmate’s fingernail came out with it.

We saw the shop where the inmates cut sheet metal into lockers for the State and sometimes made knives for themselves. Here was the garage, from which came the gasoline for the Molotov cocktails. Out back by the power plant a guard in a tower had threatened to shoot some inmates who were beating another guard early in the riot. That stopped the beating.

HBZ is the name for solitary, the hole, the segregation cells, Housing Block Z. It and the prison’s reception center form an L around a concrete exercise yard that is fenced by high wire on the other two sides. Voices inside called us “motherfucker” as we walked past. The dogs in the house bark at the dogs on the street, who do not notice.

A letter in the New York Times of July 9, 1974, spoke of “men in the hole at Attica who don’t see the light of day for months on end.” This is not true—the inmates in HBZ see the sun every day it’s out, though Attica remains a temple of doomed hopes.

I was curious throughout my first visit to Attica to go up in a gun tower. There turned out to be time. Most of the towers have one entrance, at the base outside the prison wall. We looked up the smooth cream surface to see a rope wriggling down from a window. The key to the iron gate and massive wooden door danced at the end.

In the top of the tower, the guard maintained himself eight hours a shift with a hotplate, sink, toilet, rifle, and box of shells. Inmates had nearly killed this guard, sending him to the hospital for most of the riot. He had been assigned to the solitary tower ever since, so as not to have to mingle with the population. He said he was sorry he no longer had one of the Attica arsenal’s AR-15s, which is a rifle that can be fired in either a semiautomatic mode, requiring a separate trigger-pull for each shot, or (unlike standard civilian models) an automatic mode, that is, like a machine gun. It was with an AR-15 in the automatic mode, I learned later, that a guard had most likely stitched the abdomen of a young guard named Michael Smith.

The smooth wall rose thirty feet up from the lawn inside the prison and the lawn outside, like a giant guillotine cleaving the green. The narrow rounded top extended to gun towers in either direction. The guard told us that an inmate once called up to him: Would he shoot if the inmate climbed a wire fence near the wall? No. Would he shoot if the inmate started to climb the wall? No. Would he shoot if the inmate jumped to the other side?

“If you jumped, I’d yell, ‘Halt!’ If you didn’t halt before you reached the ground, I’d shoot you.”


Chapter Four

Lawmen Restore Order

I began at once to learn the history of the riot1—to the extent it had then been pieced together—from the McKay Report and from State Police videotape, film, and other materials that Tony Simonetti used for the orientation. That history held more questions than answers. It marked the beginning rather than the end of what there was to know.

I was surprised at first by the way people in the Investigation talked about the events of 1971 as though they had happened yesterday, until I began to picture them that way myself, however many gaps riddled the picture. It was as if our suite in the semiabandoned State office building were a capsule in which time stood still. In particular, the assault by which New York restored law and order started coming together in my mind:

* * *

Spanish tile slopes above the men in gray who lie on the wet roof behind a low brick parapet in the gray morning. A video camera to their right looks down on the courtyards and the raised tunnels that cross at the center of the prison in an intersection called Times Square. Voices erupt quietly from a walkie-talkie nearby. Rifles rest with the troopers, who carry extra cartridges in their pockets. The .270 bullets, which burst from the rifles with enormous spin and disintegrate on entry, can turn a human head into a bag of shards. This horror will soon befall a hostage.

Three of the four main, red brick cellblocks, three stories high by two hundred yards long, normally warehouse the inmates behind rows of windows located across the floor so that most of them cannot look out. Security. Only in C Block does each cell have its own window; the windows on the south side face the catwalks and courtyards. Today only C Block locks inmates. Witnesses.

A Block, which adjoins C Block at the northwest corner of the great square, stands empty to rehouse the rioters; B Block and D Block are in the rioters’ control. The tunnels topped by catwalks, wet now with the Monday rain, divide the great square into four courtyards, like giant windowpanes. From one of the helicopters soon to fly over, you might look down on Attica as if it were a window into hell.

Voices erupt from a walkie-talkie in the room crowded with troopers and shotguns a few steps below the doorway to the C Catwalk on the second floor of C Block. The tall, lean captain who commands the C Walk Detail briefs the troopers. “Don’t use unnecessary force, but don’t engage in hand-to-hand combat, and don’t lose your weapon.” Their job is to clear a low, jumbled barricade that the inmates have piled up midway down the catwalk, then to turn left around the wire mesh enclosure at Times Square, and to deploy along the B Catwalk in position to cover the Rescue Detail as it goes into D Yard, where twelve hundred or so inmates hold thirty-eight hostages. A trooper prays aloud. The captain figures that God has gone with them as far as He can, and now they are on their own.2

The troopers have taped their trouser legs tight or tucked them into their boots, and some wear towels around their necks, against the tear gas soon to fall. A few carry pike poles to rip at the barricade. Others carry fire extinguishers or stand ready to wrestle a fire hose down the catwalk, in case the inmates ignite the barricade with gasoline. Inmates have been seen making Molotov cocktails. The first troopers going out wear blue vests called body armor over their gray uniforms. All have tough plastic helmets, gas masks, and their .38 revolvers or more powerful .357 magnums. Many also carry shotguns.

Many inmates, including those who later say they did not favor the riot, have knives. Some have clubs or poles with knives lashed to the end for spears or—economically—split baseball bats or half scissors. Earlier, the inmates brought a grinding wheel into D Yard. Troopers have seen sparks flying from the inmates’ weapons in the night.

Many troopers wanted to finish retaking the prison from the inmates last Thursday, the day the riot started. By early that afternoon they and the guards had recaptured half the prison, killing no one. Commissioner of the Department of Correctional Services Russell Oswald, fearful that the inmates who were cornered in D Yard would kill the hostages, stopped that retaking in order to negotiate. The inmates used the time to organize and arm as well as talk.

Oswald, new at being Commissioner of Corrections, had already promised reforms. The French Revolution started under a reform king. Trouble erupted under reforms in Russia a century later. The Attica riot broke out the week after the inmates heard a tape of Commissioner Oswald promising to give them reforms with all deliberate speed.

Attica had grown restless during the summer of 1971. Inmates in general had become less docile than before and less prone to “serve their own time.” They were, in the view of many, more “militant” or “uppity,” that is, they were quicker to claim that their rights were being denied when the system constrained their humanity or willfulness. They were better organized, in spite of the efforts of the administration to break up groups and transfer the organizers or troublemakers around the State’s little archipelago of prisons. Black and Puerto Rican inmates from the cities (i.e., most inmates) saw life somewhat differently from their white country keepers.

Attica was overcrowded. A critical mass of humanity becomes explosive, somewhat like a critical mass of uranium.

Events fed the unrest. The official explanation of how the police in Chicago burst into an apartment in the middle of the night and shot Fred Hampton and another Black Panther to death in December 1969 did not wash, as far as many inmates were concerned. (A federal grand jury eventually concluded that the police had slaughtered them and covered up, but no one was indicted.) At the Auburn prison a hundred miles to the east, the State Police had put down a riot without killing anyone in 1970; some of those rioters ended up at Attica. On August 21, 1971, in San Quentin, guards shot George Jackson to death. Whatever else he was, Jackson had been an articulate activist against injustice in prison. The Official Version said he had a gun smuggled in his Afro. The inmates of Attica, many of whom wore Afros themselves, had trouble visualizing that. They gave him a day of mourning on August 22. It unnerved the guards to see them wearing black armbands and silently refusing to eat. One guard admitted, “I was scared shitless.”3

The riot at Attica began with an incident on the afternoon of Wednesday, September 8. An inmate appeared to punch a guard who was intervening in a scuffle between two inmates in one of the courtyards. After everyone was safely locked away that night, several guards came to take the alleged puncher off to solitary. Another inmate winged an unopened can of soup cleanly through the bars of his cell, hitting a guard in the head. The next morning, the guards tried to leave the soup can thrower locked in his cell while the rest of his company marched to breakfast. As the inmates passed the company lock box at the end of his gallery, one of them pulled the lever that opened his cell. He joined the others. The guards didn’t dare seize him. Tension grew.

A company of inmates was halted for a moment in A Tunnel as they returned from the mess hall after breakfast. They jumped their guards. Riot spread through the prison like the smell of blood through shark-infested waters. Inmates beat guards, smashed windows, set fires. “To D Yard! To D Yard!” Inmates who did not want to go were threatened. “To D Yard or die!”

Even if the can of soup had struck the bars instead of passing through, the temper of the prison was such that the riot would likely have erupted soon anyway. A guard said later, “We had all been concerned about this trouble that was brewing in the prison. You could feel it in the air. … Every night we expected it.”4

During the tense negotiations between Thursday and Monday morning, Oswald granted twenty-eight of the inmates’ thirty-one demands. That was not so generous as it may sound, though yielding anything to rioting inmates angered many people. Common decency would have granted many of those demands and other reforms years earlier, would have given the inmates medical treatment, religious freedom, balanced diets, treatment for drug withdrawal, rehabilitation, fewer rectal searches, and more than one roll of toilet paper a month. The people of New York are like most Americans in refusing money for the prisons they maintain. The inmates had not seen much reform.

The demands that remain this morning are: the removal of Vincent Mancusi as warden, passage to a Third World country for the probably few inmates who wanted it (to the extent that a Third World country wanted them), and, the most important, amnesty for all crimes committed during the riot. The importance of amnesty grew with the mounting tension when Correction Officer William Quinn, whose head several inmates battered on Thursday, died on Saturday.

The underlying impasse at Attica has a tragic simplicity. The inmates say, “We are people.” The authorities say, “You will obey.”

The New York State Police are a spit-and-polish, paramilitary corps who seem to regard City cops as Marines regard soldiers. Their rules require them to shoot to kill if they shoot at all; their rhetoric says that this is so as not to “maim.” Not incidentally to this narrative, they serve as bodyguards to the Governor.

Now, four days of calling each other “nigger,” “pig” and “motherfucker” have done their work. For four days the State Police have heard a rhetoric of dying and killing boom out over the inmates’ captured public address system. “If we cannot live as people, then we will at least try to die like men.”5 The State Police are not used to being defied, certainly not by a bunch of convicted felons most of whom are blacks or Puerto Ricans. The State Police are so white that years later a court has to order them to integrate. The police have not discussed their views on dying and killing over a P.A. system, but they have the guns.

Some of their shotguns carry the rifled slug, an ounce of lead that is about the size of a Civil War minié ball, useful, its makers say, in reducing a cement block wall to rubble. One of these slugs will soon let daylight through an inmate’s abdomen. Another will kill Sam Melville, the radical and articulate “Mad Bomber” who is doing his time at Attica. More of the shotguns carry 00 buckshot, nine or twelve pellets, each the heft of a .32 caliber pistol bullet and each able to kill a person at several hundred yards. No distance inside the zone of contention is that great. During the days of negotiation some troopers have taken the lead pellets from shotgun shells and zipped them at inmates with elastic slingshots.

Shotguns are sometimes called scatter guns because the pellets spread out as they travel. At fifty yards the spread from these models will pattern a circle four feet in diameter; some pellets must miss any person shot at from that distance. In crowded D Yard some pellets are nearly certain to hit someone else. A single “stray” pellet through the face will soon kill Sergeant Edward Cunningham, a hostage who told the world on television on Sunday, September 12, that if Rockefeller didn’t grant clemency, “I’m dead.”6

A few inmates move about the gloomy octagon where the four tunnels meet at lower Times Square, at the center of the great Attica window. Barred gates separate the tunnels from Times Square at one end and from the first floor (which is called “the flats”) of the cellblocks at the other. One of the gates at Times Square broke open unexpectedly when a mass of inmates hit it on Thursday, allowing the riot to spread through the prison. Iron rods in the floor and ceiling anchored the gates where they met in the middle. When the prison was built, one of the rods to the ceiling was too short, so the workmen added on the needed length with a light weld around the outside. It held for the next forty years, probably because everyone was too rational to test what looked solid.

The inmates in Times Square can see the figures of troopers through the bars at the other end of C Tunnel a hundred yards to the north, and down A Tunnel to the west. The gates at Times Square have sheet metal aprons across their base, which will soon save the lives of these inmates from the C Tunnel shotguns.

Restraint ran out at 7:40 this morning. Commissioner Oswald gave the inmates an ultimatum:


I urgently request you to seriously reconsider my earlier appeal that one, all hostages be released immediately, unharmed, and two, you join with me in restoring order to the facility. I must have your reply to this urgent appeal within the hour. I hope and pray your answer will be in the affirmative.7



Living hostages are the inmates’ power. After that there is only the good faith of the State, which prison had not necessarily conditioned the inmates to trust. Since the authorities deem surprise important, they never actually tell the inmates that an armed assault is the alternative. Many inmates expect, at worst, rubber bullets. To that extent, at least, they still trust “father.”

A very large captain and a scholarly looking lieutenant wait with their men in the busy cubical cavern in A Block between the short tunnel to the Administration Building and the entrance to A Tunnel. The captain tells his men that the inmates were not organized when they were out on the street, so there is no reason to expect them to be organized now. Troopers are to shoot tear gas shells into a low barricade midway down the tunnel before the A Tunnel Detail goes in.

Above them, a narrow balcony connects the second-floor galleries of cells on either side of A Block. A door at the center of the balcony gives onto A Walk. Wooden ladders lean against the balcony. The assault plan calls for the ladders to be carried by troopers out the door onto A Walk, behind the A Walk Detail. When they pass Times Square, troopers will lower the ladders from B Walk into D Yard. Twenty-five troopers, optimistically called the Rescue Detail, will hurry down among the twelve hundred crudely armed inmates to try to rescue the hostages from the middle of D Yard, while brother officers cover them with their shotguns and pistols from B and D Catwalks, above. There is obviously no way to reach the hostages in time to save their lives if the inmates are determined to kill them.

Tents, lean-tos, picnic tables, and the garbage of four days’ camping out litter D Yard. Men move about whose lives are nearly over. A man bends his arm; a bullet will soon carry the elbow away, and the wound will fester and leak years later. It’s easy to forget the wounded, which, in one way or another, means nearly everyone at Attica who did not die.

A few foxholes pock the sod or burrow under the concrete sidewalk that rims D Yard. A trench runs along the pavement beside D Tunnel, rounds the right angle by Times Square, and continues a short way beside the B Tunnel pavement. This end serves as a latrine. Near the center of the yard a rectangle of mattresses piled inside an oval of benches forms the Hostage Circle, home away from home for thirty-eight men who helped to run the prison until four days ago, where Sergeant Cunningham forecast his death if his Governor did not yield. Near the Circle a kitchen deals out the food that the authorities have sent in.

During the riot, shaved-headed Black Muslims have guarded the Hostage Circle in D Yard. At times they linked arms while one of their number crashed into them, showing their ability to keep would-be attackers out. They have blindfolded and unblindfolded the hostages many times but in the main treated them well. After Oswald delivered his ultimatum, the Muslims are relieved, and other inmates tie the hostages hand and foot and blindfold them again. They take eight hostages away from the Circle.

A heavy rain has fallen through the night and tapered off to a drizzle. The inmates are wet. The hostages are wet. They share the Monday mud. Soon they will share the shots that seem to fall as indiscriminately as the slackened rain.

With Officer Quinn dead, other correction officers in the hospital, and others held hostage, a decree has gone out from the absent Governor Rockefeller forbidding all correction officers to participate in the assault, except for two who are to go in with the State Police to identify hostages. In spite of this order, guards check weapons out of the Attica arsenal or bring their own guns from home.

The Observers—a group of public figures whom the inmates summoned to the prison and who reluctantly served as negotiators between the authorities and the inmates—expect a bloodbath. On Sunday they told this to Governor Rockefeller on the telephone. The Governor, whom the Observers and inmates were urging to come to Attica, elects to stay at his estate in Pocantico Hills, far to the south. William Kirwan, Superintendent of the State Police, takes the unusual step of vacationing this Monday, staying at a motel on Lake George. It rains there, too.

“Remember the law,” the troopers are cautioned before the assault. Anyone who chooses to carry a gun takes responsibility for the rules that govern its use. It takes fewer motions to shoot a person dead than to tie your shoe. The troopers have been trained in the law, which applies at Attica, that says an officer may fire his gun only if he reasonably believes the person he shoots is posing an imminent threat to his own life or to someone else’s life.8 No officer can lawfully be ordered to do otherwise.

The State Police know the law. State officials consider them sufficiently disciplined and detached to obey it. Major John Monahan briefs the officers who will lead the assault, telling them that he does not want them “shooting fish in a barrel.” He does not want the retaking of Attica to be a “turkey shoot.”9 If the prison must be retaken now and by force, who else would do it?

Somewhere the inmates have two tear gas guns that they captured on the first day of the riot. The gas shells measure an inch and a half in diameter and can kill a person at close range. The gun must be broken open after each shot, the spent shell pulled out, and a new one put in before the gun can be fired again. It is a 37-millimeter cannon, potentially lethal, of extremely low efficiency. Other than these two gas guns, the inmates have no firearms of any kind. And the authorities know it.

A helicopter flies over. A rumor, false, ripples through D Yard that the Governor is aboard. “Stand up, stand up, so Rockefeller can see you,” the inmates order the hostages. Inmates hold weapons to the hostages. One inmate wipes his knife across his hostage’s blindfold, cleaning the blade to prevent infection, he says, when the knife cuts the hostage’s throat.

Inmates lead the eight hostages they have taken from the Hostage Circle up a steep iron ladder inside Times Square and out of the brick blockhouse on top. (A ninth hostage is led from the Circle and made to stand on a box in D Yard.) The inmates range the hostages across Times Square and onto the A and B Catwalks. They press knives to the hostages’ throats. One holds a spear to a hostage’s stomach, as well. An inmate gives another hostage a Tums and combs his hair. The inmate says he wants the hostage to “die pretty.”

“Hostages are on the catwalks with knives at their throats,” a trooper with the video camera on A Roof says into his microphone, his emotion charging his voice.

“I don’t want to die.”

“Louder.” The inmate executioner pulls back the head of the hostage nearest A Block on the catwalk.

“I don’t want to die!”

Officials and police watch from the cellblocks. Their own are suffering and may die at the hands of convicted criminals. The police listen, their guns ready.

Hostages and inmates on the catwalks both wear prison clothes, but only the hostages are bound and blindfolded. Many inmates hold weapons in their hands and wear football helmets, turbans, and other gaily colored garb. All hostages are white, and the majority of inmates are not. It is easier to tell a hostage from an inmate before the shooting and tear gas start, but of course there is no justification for shooting either one unless he reasonably appears about to kill or grievously injure someone. But who at this point is reasonable?

“Negative, negative.” At 9:30 A.M. the inmates answer Commissioner Oswald’s ultimatum, his prayer that their answer will be affirmative.

Inside A Block Major Monahan surveys the interior prison through a barred window. As the commanding officer of Troop A of the New York Division of State Police, whose territory contains the prison, he has tactical command of the retaking. Although he is outranked at the prison by several officers who have come over from Division Headquarters in Albany, his primacy in the retaking, and the merely advisory role of his superiors, will emerge afterward with increasing clarity. Two years earlier Monahan had commanded the State Police at the Woodstock music festival. In two years New York added “Woodstock” and “Attica” to our vocabulary.

Voices erupt from the walkie-talkies. The assault will go forward, undeterred by the knives at the hostages’ throats. The inmates’ deadly gambit fails. One calculated risk begets another. The men with the .270 rifles are ordered to hold their fire until an inmate holding a weapon to a hostage makes an overt act. (I never understood what more of an overt act was required.)

Blades cut the air atop two National Guard helicopters that rest on the well-kept lawn near the neat flower beds in front of the Administration Building. They carry CS gas, also known as tear gas, which is actually a fine powder that burns the eyes, stings the skin, tightens the chest, and causes dizziness, coughing, difficulty in breathing, a runny nose, and copious tears.

Captain Henry Williams, who is Major Monahan’s well-spoken chief of detectives, has taken over the radio in the State Police Command Post. Commissioner Oswald is with Williams now. Down the hall, the group of outside Observers are confined, on Oswald’s order, to a room in the front of the Administration Building with a guard at the door. From there they cannot observe. The temper of the troopers who are about to retake the prison is such that some of the Observers fear for their own lives.10

At 9:42 A.M., the voice of Captain Williams erupts from the walkie-talkies. “All forces in position.” At 9:43 he orders the power cut off, against the possibility that the inmates have electrified the barricades. At 9:44 high-powered water hoses are ordered to be connected. All available county ambulances are ordered to the truck gate at the rear of the prison. At 9:45 the troopers with the .270 rifles on the wet roof hear Captain Williams’s voice: “Zero in on targets. Do not take action until the drop.”

The trooper with the video camera on A Roof points his lens down at the inmates and hostages along A Walk. “The time is nine forty-five,” he says into his microphone.

A helicopter skims dangerously close to the orange-tiled peak to the left of the A Roof troopers and flies along the catwalk. A white cloud falls swiftly from its belly, beaten downwards by the rotor blades. Shots crack. Men fall, as if beaten by the wind.

Inmates on the catwalks slash the throats of two hostages before the shooting sends them all down. One cut will take fifty-two stitches to close. The other will take thirty. Two other hostages on the catwalks suffer minor cuts, which could have quickly healed if law officers’ bullets had not found their vitals.

Shots too clustered to count echo from the walls.11 A figure stands on A Walk a few feet from the Times Square blockhouse. Everyone else on A Walk is down. The video camera swings crazily. We see D Walk, where little is happening, and the litter of men and tents in a blurred D Yard beyond. We glimpse the briefest flash of troopers coming at the barricade on C Walk. Back to the lone figure standing near Times Square. A white puff envelops him. When it clears, he is down and dying. The assault is only seconds old.

The assault takes the form of a cross. Troopers converge up A and C Catwalks upon Times Square, meet and mingle, then diverge down D and B Catwalks. Gunfire from the cellblocks behind them paves their path with blood on the wet concrete. Their own guns boom. The wounded and the dying cry and moan at their feet, amid the echoing shots. An inmate with a gut full of metal screams for someone to kill him. No one obliges but peace comes soon.

The video camera swings to one of the helicopters careening against the sky. Very interesting, but, again, that’s not where the action is. Troopers move about Times Square. The shots grow more sporadic. Troopers spread along D Walk, their backs to the camera, their guns covering D Yard.

The troopers with the ladders follow the A Walk Detail around Times Square, descend into D Yard, and move through the rubbish and prostrate inmates to the Hostage Circle. Handfuls of troopers feed out the doors from mid-A Tunnel and mid-C Tunnel to secure the other three courtyards. Soon troopers roam through D Yard firing their shotguns into holes the inmates have dug.

The two helicopters that dropped the tear gas fly off. A smaller helicopter replaces them above the courtyards. A voice booms down like God. “Put your hands on top of your head. … Surrender peacefully. You will not be harmed. …”


Chapter Five

“You Will Not Be Harmed”

“Put your hands on top of your head. … Surrender peacefully. You will not be harmed,” the voice repeats as the helicopter wheels above the giant windowpane of Attica.

Troopers, some with bright-orange raincoats covering their grays, line the catwalks above D Yard and point their shotguns and big pistols down at the inmates. Troopers and a few white-coated medics move among the inmates in D Yard. The inmates, obeying the troopers, converge from all over D Yard, trickle through the door in the middle of D Tunnel, and out again into A Yard on the other side of the tunnel, sand through an hourglass. Hostages climb to B Catwalk up the ladders that the troopers of the Rescue Detail climbed down a few minutes before. Troopers on the catwalks help the hostages over the rail. Young men of the National Guard, who took no part in the shooting, carry out more stretchers. The voice from the helicopter booms on.

Moving toward D Tunnel door, more inmates step across the trench, around the bodies of dead and bleeding men that lie on the mud and wet concrete between the trench and tunnel, and go up concrete steps. Troopers motion them along with guns. They keep their hands on top of their heads, surrendering peacefully. A jam develops at the door, the neck of the hourglass, so inmates sit in the mud waiting their turn to pass through while troopers cover them from the catwalks.

Inmates move rapidly down the steps into A Yard, sometimes shoved and sometimes struck by nightsticks. Troopers give them a quick pat frisk on the way. The inmates go prone on the concrete apron and onto the wet grass of A Yard, piling on top of one another before they can spread out from the door. They crawl slowly on their knees and elbows, hands still clasped on their heads. Troopers command them to strip naked and lie back down. That solves the problem of hidden weapons. Correction officers and troopers kick the heads and bodies of some of the inmates on the ground.

“The method employed to get [the inmates] to lie down was to hit them with a club across the knees,” says Major John Cudmore, a National Guard doctor who was there. “If they weren’t struck, it was only through their ability to avoid it. … Not-too-disguised attempts were made to hit them in the genitalia.”1

An inmate speaks: “A trooper said, ‘Start crawling, you white nigger lover—put your nose to the ground. If it comes up, your head comes off.’ So I start crawling. I went a little ways, then they told us, ‘Stop!’ All this time you could hear something hitting a body. All the time you hear men groaning low and so much noise. Everything was all confused.”

A correction officer: “We weren’t taking any guff.”

Another inmate: “I was lying here and this trooper comes up. He pushes my head down with his foot. ‘Get up and get undressed,’ he said. So I got undressed, and he told me to take off my watch. I took it off, and he stomped it on the ground. Smashed it.”

The inmate is lucky. Others have their watches smashed on their wrists. Off with the glasses and wedding rings. Out with the false teeth. Law officers smash and trample these, too.

“Surrender peacefully,” the voice booms and the walls reply. “You will not be harmed … harmed … harmed. …”

A guardsman carrying a stretcher with an inmate who had been shot through the groin says several troopers came over and hit the inmate with their nightsticks. The inmate screamed. A trooper replied, “Fuck you, nigger. You should have gotten it in the head.”

A black prisoner—in fact, Frank “Big Black” Smith—is ordered to lie naked on a recreation table. A football is placed on his chest beneath his chin. Officers tell him he is dead if the football falls off. Hours later State legislators touring the catwalks with Deputy Corrections Commissioner Walter Dunbar see the inmate still balancing the football. Dunbar tells the legislators that this inmate is responsible for the rumored castration of a hostage. Thus, quickly they identified the perpetrator of a crime that did not happen.

Officers direct three or four other inmates, who along with the football balancer are picked out as leaders of the riot, to lie on their backs with their knees drawn up, and to balance shotgun shells on their knees or chest. “I thought they were dead at first, they were so still,” a legislator says later. Officers on the catwalks spit down on them. Some flip down lighted cigarettes. The inmates must remain motionless. Since they are naked, their clothing is not damaged when the cigarettes burn out on their flesh.

“A trooper was helping the sheriffs strip the inmates,” one trooper says, “and he was cuffing a few—smacking them with his hands and kicking them a little bit. So I threw him the hell out of there. … [Two] very emotional [correction officers were] doing a job—I mean they had nightsticks and they were smacking inmates on the head, hitting them anywhere, sheriffs’ deputies were working inmates over, too.”

“You don’t understand what happened,” a guard says to a trooper who tells him to knock it off. “Some of these men were disemboweled, and they were abused sexually.” These rumors also prove false, too late to head off the brutality they inspire.

Eventually the naked inmates march in a great brown-and-white serpentine around A Yard. They enter A Tunnel and are forced to run down it, bare feet on the broken glass of Thursday. Correction officers and troopers stand along the walls, beating the walls and floor with their nightsticks for effect, beating the inmates as they run this famous gauntlet.

An inmate: “All I saw was correction officers and troopers down both sides of the hallway, and they had clubs in their hands. … I saw an inmate on the floor at the end of the tunnel, just before he got into A Block. They were beating him. Then the inmate furthest down the tunnel was allowed to get up and go into A Block; and the inmate midway in the tunnel started to run. As he ran down, they beat him—wacked him with clubs.”

Governor Rockefeller ordered the correction officers not to take part in freeing the hostages because, he said later, “it would just be humanly impossible for them not to become involved in reprisals.” The correction officers, however, remain responsible for rehousing the inmates in A Block shortly after the assault. Rumors of hostages, their own, killed and castrated by inmates incite them. In the main, their supervisors decline to supervise them—except to send some home. Over twenty guards are excused from duty that Monday. Among the reasons: “broke down” (five); “emotionally unstable,” “aggressive,” “incapable,” “irrational,” “rambling,” or “incoherent” (eight); “saw bodies” (two).

A National Guardsman: “If a prisoner would take his hands off his head at any time he was running, the officers would circle him and swing from the floor. One black guy, about twenty years old, fell down because he was tripped, and they hit him for what seemed like a couple of minutes. One guard would hit him, step back and let another get a clean shot. By accident one trooper or guard hit another with his stick. The guard who got hit yelled, ‘This is for him hitting me, you black motherfucker,’ and he hit the prisoner. At this time they all stepped back and let the guard who got hit accidentally beat the prisoner all by himself. Then he ran the prisoner all the way through the corridor to [the] cellblock and he hit him all the way.”

Deputy Commissioner Walter Dunbar leads State Senator John Dunne through the A Block flats at the mouth of the tunnel. Dunne sees naked males running toward him, officers clubbing them as they pass. Dunne turns to Dunbar and says, “Walter, I see something I shouldn’t be seeing, and it had better stop right away.” Dunbar gives an order. The beating stops. Later, Dunbar denies any recollection of having seen the A Tunnel gauntlet. Dunbar’s boss, Commissioner Russell Oswald, remembers better. He recalls the gauntlet as being “more in the manner of an old fraternity hazing than a beating.”2

At the end of A Tunnel more officers channel the running inmates up the stairs and into the galleries of A Block, where the actual “rehousing” in the cells occurs. The beatings follow them up the stairs and into their new homes.

An inmate: “All I could see was big troopers and correction officers at the top of the stairway, and they were calling [to the inmate ahead of me], ‘Come on, nigger, your day ain’t over with yet.’ They called him ‘cocksucker’ and ‘white nigger’ and all this shit. Anyway, he wouldn’t come. He was scared. He had tears coming down his face, and he said, ‘No, I’m not going to come. You’re going to kill me.’ One of the troopers came over there, grabbed hold of his hair, and yanked him up by one hand—lifted him right off his feet—and threw him down on the floor and started kicking him in the stomach. Finally, they half dragged and half threw him in the second cell. The minute he got up I ran right for the [cell], because I knew if I stayed there, I was going to get hit. [A trooper stuck his shotgun through the bars and said,] ‘We’re going to come back and kill you.’”

The cells, built for one, now hold two or three. The inmates’ belongings—clothing, books, letters from home, toilet articles, pictures, laboriously written legal papers—are emptied out onto the floor of the galleries, to be taken the next day to the prison dump and burned.3

A correction officer sees a trooper pick up a guitar from the pile of inmate belongings and break it over the head of an inmate who is running by. “It knocked the inmate to his knees,” the guard recalls. “The troopers made a joke out of it. … Most of [the other officers] laughed.”

National Guardsmen carry a large black man on a stretcher into the ground floor of A Block. A small, nonuniformed man, whom an inmate later identifies as a guard, comes over and asks what is wrong with the man. A guardsman: “I told him the inmate had gunshot wounds in the legs. My telling him seemingly went unnoticed. He told us to put the inmate down. [The man then] picked the head end of the stretcher up and dumped [the inmate] onto his feet. The [inmate] fell over onto his shoulder and really bounced off the floor. There was debris and slime water all over the floor. Then this nonuniformed man pulled out a Phillips screwdriver and [said to the inmate], who was lying on the floor on his back, ‘If you don’t get moving—if you don’t get up on your feet, you are going to get this right up your ass.’ Then he did stick this man right in the anal area five or six times. And the prisoner, he didn’t say a word, but just sort of [got up and] pushed with his legs toward the cell block this man wanted him to go into. I know we should have stopped this man, that it was a criminal act, but it happened so quickly. We were just awed by the fact that the prison guards were standing around and seemingly not even noticing it. By the time the man was gone we couldn’t do anything.”

The guards take the suspected inmate leaders to HBZ, which is where solitary is, through another gauntlet outside. “You want amnesty? Well, come and get it,” a guardsman hears correction officers say as they yank inmates into the doorway to HBZ and club them. Inmates say they suffer more beatings running upstairs on the way to the cells. Doctors examining these inmates eight days later find two fractured ribs, a broken arm, a broken elbow, and abrasions and contusions of body and face.

Guardsmen who do not know where they are supposed to go wander through HBZ. One opens a door to a room on the ground floor. “I didn’t do it, boss.” Five or six guards are beating a big black inmate with their sticks. The inmate, who is lying naked on the floor, is the one accused of castrating a hostage. “I didn’t do it, boss,” the inmate says over and over. One of the correction officers tells the guardsman to stay out. He retreats. The correction officers come out about half a minute later. The guardsmen find the inmate lying on a stretcher. He seems delirious and does not comprehend where they are taking him as they carry the stretcher to the hospital. He continues to moan, “I didn’t do it, boss.” As mentioned before, no hostages were castrated.

A correction officer explains later how this inmate received abrasions of both elbows, both buttocks, his left upper back, and lacerations of his left forehead. “I took his name and number in the same fashion I had taken everybody else’s at [HBZ]. He was then directed toward the staircase. He was pushed to some extent because he wasn’t responding normally. When he got into the back room of the reception building, he simply went the wrong way and fell. I think there’s either three or four steps that lead into the old dormitory on the first floor, and he hit his head either on the door handle or something at the bottom of the stairs.”

A National Guard stretcher-bearer who is with the wounded inmates on the grass outside HBZ: “We were just sort of getting a breather, and we heard a sort of chanting or something. I looked over and saw that one of the prisoners was sitting up on his stretcher and was singing. Somebody yelled to him to be quiet and to lie down. He was just sort of singing to the sky, and he started yelling, ‘You’re going to kill me, brother.’ Then about three or four uniformed prison guards appeared. He stopped singing as soon as they started walking over toward his stretcher. They dumped him up and led him onto the steps of the recreation building, took him into the vestibule, and they just beat the hell out of him with nightsticks. He was on the floor in a fetal position. ‘Enough! Enough!’ They just kept beating on him.”

Another guardsman hears correction officers telling injured inmates, “You fucking nigger, see what black power has gotten you," and things to that effect.

Some of the injured are taken to E Block, a small cellblock behind the main quadrangle on the same side as the prison hospital. Inmates locked in E Block hold mirrors out of their windows, a common inmate practice, and watch correction officers dump injured inmates from stretchers and beat them with nightsticks, the inmates say later. The officers finally hang blankets at the end of the gallery to block the inmates’ view.

Major Cudmore, the National Guard doctor, tells his wife that night what it was like at the prison: “For the first time, I could understand what happened at My Lai.”

Was it likely, I asked myself, that the police and prison guards fired their weapons with lawful restraint during the retaking and lapsed into criminal savagery only afterward? A State Police officer who had watched the retaking from the roof of a cellblock told me later how he had walked out on the catwalks the same night. They were empty and silent, and he could not believe what he had seen there only a few hours before.

In the traditional police brutality case, it was the word of several officers against that of the lone prisoner, and the prisoner had some injuries for which the officers gave an innocent explanation. “He fell.” Back then, who would believe the convicted felon against the officers who are too much like the rest of us to commit such cruelty and then lie about it afterward?

In many of the potential Attica “rehousing cases,” National Guardsmen saw the police commit the crimes. The guardsmen served mainly as litter-bearers. They have never been accused, except in ignorance, of hurting anyone.4 They articulate well. Unlike the inmate witnesses, they are of us and we believe them. With the help of the guardsmen, it looked, from my beginner’s standpoint, as though it would have been comparatively easy to have indicted and convicted many perpetrators of the assaults they witnessed, which were as serious as the crimes that had put many inmates inside Attica in the first place.

Inmates, then police, had scrawled across a wall in the prison: “Attica Fell 9-9-71 Fuck you Pig! Retaken on 9-13-71 31 Dead Niggers.”5 I have often thought that graffiti epitomized the spirits at war during the riot.

The police brutality after the shooting, killing no one and causing relatively few serious injuries, was widely reported. The cruel and gory details seem to have aroused more than their share of the decorous outcry over Attica, in proportion to the wanton taking of human lives by law officers earlier that morning. I suspect this happened largely because the public remained ignorant and confused about the shootings until it forgot them. The facts, which could have ended that ignorance and confusion, spent the years that followed aging in the dark vaults of the State, like rare whiskey in a country that has gone on the wagon.

Since World War II impressed me at a wide-eyed age, I have thought it unrealistic for Americans to assure themselves that the excesses of Nazi Germany could never happen here. If we share our humanity with everyone else, then we share our capacity for evil—as we share with the Good German the capacity to look the other way. My orientation to what happened during the retaking and rehousing did nothing to alter my view that Americans can be as brutal as anyone else, notwithstanding the fact that after the shooting stopped, no one apparently died from the “old fraternity hazing.”


Chapter Six

Programmed to Fail?

I came to know three central characters apart from my new colleagues: Attica the prison, Attica the event, and the Attica Investigation. I have introduced the prison and the event as they were introduced to me that fall. I grew acquainted with the Investigation by doing some of its tasks and while looking at it as intently as I could.

Warnings that the Investigation had been programmed to fail—at least in prosecuting crimes by law officers—were plain to see in hindsight; but I was immersed in the moment and focused on learning my way around and doing my new job. I did notice several of the warnings as I worked along, but I was not alert for trouble and did not connect the dots. I was less aware then than I became later, that this long after the shootings, it would require a major effort to make sound cases against criminal police; but I did not doubt that Tony Simonetti, head of the Investigation, had the will and was about to be given the power to pursue those cases. That this would happen late was too bad, but better late than never.

My ignorance about criminal practice made me uneasy, and my anxiety helped me to learn. I looked up to the assistants who surrounded me, most of whom were younger than I. Nearly all had previously prosecuted in other offices. Several besides Tony had worked in District Attorney Frank Hogan’s homicide bureau in Manhattan. Gerry Ryan, one door down the hall from me, had helped to convict three people for killing Malcolm X. With Tony’s permission and my hundred dollars, I spent the Friday and Saturday of my first week on the job attending a symposium on criminal practice. I would be ready to try my cases against inmates whenever I had to, I told myself, but it would be fine with me if the trials were delayed until I learned more about the best ways to try them.

While we were not yet ready for the inmate trials, it was obvious that the Investigation was rolling in hot pursuit of their crimes. It had succeeded so far in indicting dozens of them and usually in winning the defense motions that their lawyers kept making in court. As the Investigation was busy, I became busy at first, prosecuting inmates. I found this an interesting and important job, though I wondered why it was not a smaller job than investigating law officers who had killed ten times as many people as the inmates had. Yet I saw everybody treating it as just about the only job.

Tony had me read the big office Administration (“Admin”) File. In it I saw inconclusive memos about the fatal shooting of two hostages on the catwalks, I read fragmentary memos about the deaths in the Hostages Circles, but there was no coherent story. An assistant named Ed Hammock had tried to prosecute a few officers, though none had finally been indicted. The reasons why, and why Hammock no longer worked there, I did not know. The Investigation, I was beginning to see, had shown little more than perfunctory interest in pursuing officers’ crimes during its first two full years. But it did not enter my mind that the people in control may not have wanted it to, that they may have preferred all those homicides to look as “justifiable” as Rockefeller had claimed they were. As I understood it then, the full investigation and possible prosecution of law officers had simply not been reached yet. Exhilaration from the fascinating new job and new world I was entering buoyed my optimism.

Prosecuting only inmates during the months and years that mattered most must have been seductively pleasant. Their crimes were disturbing in ways that our ex-prosecutor assistants and ex-cop investigators found comfortable. Most cops don’t like to go after brother officers. The game is cops and robbers, not cops and cops. Though I understood such loyalty, I did not like it. I was a pretty conservative person then, but fair is fair. I admired the New York City cop Frank Serpico for blowing the whistle on corruption among his brother officers. Above the entrance to the Supreme Court of the United States are the words “Equal Justice Under Law.” As long as I can remember, I have believed in those words and been proud that my country does, too. All stand equal before the law. All deserve equal justice: cops and robbers, good guys and bad guys, us and them. Right?

The inmates’ crimes deserved punishment if any crimes did. They had savagely beaten a number of guards. Most beatings had not even been necessary to help the riot succeed. One or more inmates had broken the skull and battered the brain of the young guard, Bill Quinn. Color autopsy photos of his brain shocked me. Kenneth Hess, one of the three inmates whom inmates had killed, had met a particularly ghastly end. In much of the prison, one set of bars that are three floors long covers each vertical row of windows. Hess squirmed out of a third floor window, wedging himself between the bars and the red brick wall between the top two floors. Though his throat was partly cut, he was able to scream for help, but the officers on the grass below could do nothing for him. Arms thrust from the window below. Hands clutched his legs. He vanished into the interior. The day after the police retook the prison, his decomposing body was found in a closet. Tales of the riot were small talk among our staff. This was one of them.

The Organized Crime Task Force (OCTF), which came into being in 1970 and of which I was now pleased to be a part, was tasked with attacking crime that occurred in more than one county. The name impressed me, though I never heard that the OCTF had accomplished very much. Until a criminal indictment becomes public, that sort of work is supposed to remain secret. One could always suppose that the OCTF was working on something important, like organized crime.

The OCTF existed under the New York State Department of Law, which was headed during the Rockefeller and Malcolm Wilson governorships by Attorney General Louis Lefkowitz. Voters knew him as “Looey”; we called him “General.” Deputy Attorney General Robert E. Fischer, who was sometimes called “Judge” because he had once been one, presided over the task force mainly from its office in Binghamton in New York’s “Southern Tier.” Rockefeller had appointed Fischer to two other posts before the OCTF and was apparently pleased with his work. As the riot ended, it was decided that prosecuting the crimes that had occurred there would be too much for the local District Attorney, Louis James. (Later I wondered whether James was also too honest to be trusted.) The next day Rockefeller appointed Fischer and the OCTF to do the job. The Attica Investigation was thus a part of the OCTF; we were all employed ultimately by Louis Lefkowitz. Somewhere in my mind I knew that Lefkowitz was totally loyal to Rockefeller, but the thought did not surface then. It had no reason to.

The Attica Investigation faced a mammoth task—forty-three homicides and many times that number of serious assaults and other crimes to investigate, perhaps three thousand witnesses to interview, a growing mountain of documents to digest, and more thousands of items of physical evidence and photographs to fit into the giant jigsaw puzzle of who did what to whom. The Investigation should have moved quickly, before witnesses forgot the faces of the perpetrators and before inmate witnesses started returning to the streets; but to do this mammoth task, Fischer extracted from the Rockefeller-Lefkowitz Administration just one full-time assistant, Tony Simonetti, who was already working for Fischer in the OCTF Rochester office, plus one part-time assistant, nine investigators, and a dozen detectives of the State Police (SP). A second part-time assistant soon came on board. And that, during the crucial, irretrievable beginning, was all.

Maxwell B. Spoont, an able and genial lawyer who had worked with Fischer in private practice, was his lieutenant for the OCTF proper. Tony Simonetti acted as Fischer’s chief executive officer for the Attica Investigation, the tail of the OCTF that outgrew the dog. Except for the New York City ex-cops whom Tony hired for the Attica Investigation, the OCTF had no investigators of its own; it depended for its investigative work, and thus for its success, upon the detectives of the New York State Police.

While these State Police detectives may not have been investigating the shootings, beatings, and other assaults by their brother officers (at least not that I saw), they were nonetheless on the same team with our investigators who were. They were in the same offices, and sharing access to the same files. This goodbuddy proximity had to damage, if not destroy, the vigor and objectivity of these inquiries into State Police crimes; and it gave the State Police access to information that they should not have had about how these (few) investigations of their brother officers were proceeding.

At the outset Fischer made a portentous decision: he decided to investigate the riot “chronologically,” that is, to devote the main effort of his woefully inadequate staff to the four homicides committed by inmates before the thirty-nine homicides by law officers. During the next two-and-a-half years, the special Wyoming County grand jury, which received only such evidence as the Investigation chose to give it, charged sixty-two inmates with 1,289 crimes, and no law officer with anything.1

It is obviously vital to question witnesses and show them photos while their memories are still fresh, to marshal evidence before it deteriorates or is lost, and to hunt down additional evidence while it still exists. To an extent that appalled me later, our investigators had not done this, at least not for the turkey shoot and subsequent police brutality. They questioned the inmates about the events of the Thursday, Friday, Saturday, and Sunday of the riot, and Monday up to 9:45 a.m., in enough detail to support those 1,289 criminal charges against inmates. But for the most part, they did not ask the inmates what they witnessed during the next ten or so minutes while all around them policemen were shooting 128 people. It would have taken our few investigators only a short time to have asked ask those inmates what they saw, heard, felt, and did during those crucial minutes.

Since our investigators were, most inappropriately, working with State Police detectives and sharing fellowship with them, it may have been hard for the investigators to ask inmates whether they saw a trooper shoot an inmate. But hard or not, those crucial questions had to be asked. But it was not the investigators’ decision, it was their superiors’ decision, that these key questions were not to be asked.

Possibly Fischer and whomever he may have consulted about halting the questioning at 9:45 had feared that inmates would lie, though not against specific officers since, wearing gas masks but not their name tags during the shooting, they could not be identified. This fear could have been remedied by cross-checking the inmates’ stories, the stories of troopers and other witnesses, and the ballistics, autopsy, and photographic evidence. But if the fear was that the inmates would tell the truth and make a record that could not be ignored, that would have been harder to remedy. Best for Rockefeller and any and all criminal officers, I saw later, if such a record did not exist.

The decision not to question these thousand or so eyewitnesses about all these shootings—about the most significant slaughter in the modern history of New York—may have flowed from the decisions to have a tiny staff and to investigate the riot chronologically. From the standpoint of effective prosecution, the decision to have no questioning instead of intense questioning at this crucial point constituted a terrible blunder. But to protect the police from being prosecuted for murder and other serious felonies, all three decisions were perfect—as I saw much later.

State Police detectives and our own investigators did question troopers and prison guards (though not inmates) about what they themselves were doing during the shooting. When an officer admitted firing his weapon, as 111 of them did, they asked him what he shot at and why. Those officers’ answers, including the many answers that were provably false, turned out to be among the Investigation’s most valuable evidence. But the questioners curiously failed to ask officers about the shootings by other officers that many of them must have seen. Here, too, apparently on the instructions (no competent investigator would do so on his own), the investigators failed to collect crucial evidence it was their duty to collect.

Tony and I would talk often about the failures of the SP detectives to gather evidence, but seldom about the similar failures of our own investigators. The failure to question inmates about whatever shootings they may have witnessed frustrated me, but once again I did not grasp what the failure implied. I have asked myself since why I did not catch on sooner. And what would I have done if I had. Through dumb luck, my remaining a team player for as long as I did enabled me to expose as much of the truth as I eventually did, and as much of my seniors’ efforts to bury the truth. Had I caught on sooner, I’d have left the Investigation sooner and exposed fewer of the decisions and deeds that furthered the cover-up.

In the fall of 1971 Governor Rockefeller had proved reluctant to provide another Attica inquiry with an adequate staff, but this time he didn’t get away with it. Right after the riot, the public demanded to be told what really happened, by someone more credible than an Administration that had maintained as long as it could that inmates had killed the dead hostages. Rockefeller responded by launching the McKay Commission to report to the public in one year. To assure its independence, Rockefeller asked a panel of the State’s chief appellate judges to select its nine members. Conflict quickly rose between the Administration and the Commission; by November the members were threatening to quit en masse unless Rockefeller granted them the people, tools, and powers they felt they needed “to make a full and impartial investigation.”2 To avoid this embarrassment, Rockefeller yielded. One must ask, though, why he resisted in the first place—and why he failed to give the prosecution similarly adequate tools to do its job.

The Attica Investigation had a far bigger job than McKay. It had to determine what had happened—which was McKay’s only job—and also to marshal the specific evidence sufficient to identify and convict individual perpetrators of the inmates’ and officers’ crimes arising out of all those shootings, kidnappings (i.e., hostage takings), and assaults. But, because the McKay people insisted on having the tools to do their job, the Rockefeller Administration permitted McKay to hire a staff of thirty-six full-time workers, half of them lawyers, and sixty part-time workers. It seems that, unlike McKay, Fischer never fought for the staff he needed, though the Rockefeller people should have given it to him without a fight. In fact, they should have insisted that he have it.

The Meyer Commission, which would later investigate the Investigation, would conclude that responsibility for the Investigation’s tiny staff “rests largely with Fischer, and not with [Rockefeller’s] Executive Chamber or Simonetti.” (The Executive Chamber were the bright, savvy men who worked directly for Rockefeller.) Long afterward when I became aware of this history, I would agree with Meyer’s exculpation of Simonetti but certainly not of Rockefeller and Lefkowitz. Those two pros administered the law in the State. They could have had as adequate a staff as McKay if they had wanted one. That they didn’t have one meant that they didn’t want one.

By the summer of 1973, it finally looked as though the first inmate trials would begin that fall. Up till then the Rockefeller-Lefkowitz Administration had permitted the Investigation’s staff to grow only slowly and still very inadequately, despite repeated pleas from Simonetti that he needed more people. These pleas, which I saw in the Admin File, reassured me that Tony wanted a fair investigation. As the prospect of trying inmates loomed, however, Lefkowitz suddenly let the Investigation double the number of assistants and add ten more investigators. That is how Simonetti was able to hire me and several other lawyers two years after the events in question.

I had first seen the A Roof videotape of the retaking on a small hookup in the back office of the Investigation. Someone had put up a sign there that said, “Support your Attica Brothers.” That is what the inmate defendants called themselves. Most of them pooled their efforts under the standard of the Attica Brothers Legal Defense (ABLD), represented by lawyers from around the country and across the political spectrum. Former U.S. Attorney General Ramsey Clark represented one of the two inmates charged with murdering Billy Quinn. William Kunstler represented the other.

I knew Kunstler only by reputation as the outspoken radical lawyer who had represented Bobby Seale at the Chicago Eight trial and served controversially as an Observer during the Attica riot. Some assistants at the Investigation combed the tapes of what Kunstler had said in D Yard to see if they could indict him for “inciting a riot.” They seemed disappointed that he always saved himself by qualifying his “inflammatory” remarks. Tom Wicker, on the other hand, credits Kunstler’s cool talk with saving some Observers’ lives when some inmates’ emotions in D Yard threatened to get out of hand. I used to think it a tribute to our open society that it would tolerate a Kunstler. I came to consider him a necessity.

Defending the Attica Brothers had automatically become a cause. From the perspective of the cause lawyers, the riot had been a rebellion for human rights and dignity. “If we cannot live as people, then we will at least try to die like men.” The prosecution, they said, merely continued the oppression. It was a political prosecution; the coming trials would be political trials. Indicting scores of inmates but zero police, they said, highlighted the unfairness and proved their point. Law students, college students, and other volunteers helped the lawyers. A motley group of them sometimes filled the spectators’ benches in the Buffalo courtroom—in jeans, the men bearded, the women braless, occasionally an interracial couple of whom our investigators tended to disapprove, all looking like fugitives from a rock concert. I think politics permeate life, and I had enjoyed many rock concerts, but this was not what I expected in court. Our investigators joked pointedly that the ABLD supporters were dirty and smelly. In court and in meeting them up close, I never noticed that.

Donald Jelinek, a lawyer out of Berkeley, California, acted as coordinator for the ABLD and their main spokesman in court. He stood before the judge with a loosened tie and ragged hole in the elbow of his jacket and spoke against oppression. Yet beneath the rhetoric he was very effective. He reminded me of some lawyers I had opposed in commercial lawsuits in New York City, the practical salami slicer working away beneath the soapbox, shaving off morsel after morsel for his clients. The Brothers could do worse than have Jelinek speak for them. Later I learned that he had indeed once worked on commercial cases in the City.
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